





that he “expressed concern that the proposed CIA interrogation techniques comply with
applicable U.S. law, including our international obligations. B

(U) The Committee has been denied the Second Bybee memo and does not know which
specific interrogation practices, other than waterboarding, wete analyzed in the memo. A '
heavily redacted version of the Second Bybee memo, released on July 24, 2008, provides no
further details about the specific imtarogation practices that were analyzed by the OLC.2 The
‘unredacted sections only make ¢lear shat the OLC applied its analysis in the First Bybee memo t0
a set of (redacted) facts at issue inthe Second Bybee memo.”* And while public sources have
suggested that the OLC’s analysis applied to Zubaydah, then-Deputy Assistant Attorney General
John Y oo suggested.in recent testimony that it “perhaps” applied to others “gimmlarly situated."*"

(U) According to Acting CIA General Counsel John Rizzo, the techniques that the OLC
analyzed in the Second Bybee memo were provided by his office. In his testimony before the
Senate Select Committee on Intelligence, Mr. Rizzo stated that his office was “the vehicle” for
getting tl_}::s2 interrogation practices anatyzed in the Second Bybe¢ memo.to the Department of
Justice.”

-Lt Col Baumgartner, the JFRA Chief of Staff, recalled sending a copy of the same
information that he had sent to the DoD General Counsel — including the list of SERE technicques
and Dr. Ogrisseg’s memo on the pszchological effects of Air Force SERE training and on
waterboarding — 10 attorney.?® Mr. Haynes, the DoD General Counsel, recailed that in the
context of reviewing the list of SERE techniques provided to his office, that hie may have been

“ 1& that information be given to the Tustice Department for gomething they were working
onrll - . '

(U) With respect to the issues addressed in Dr. Ogrisseg’s memo relating to the
paychological effects of resistance training, Mr. Haynes said that he knew that there was a

% yopn Bellinger answers to July 31, 2008 writien questions fros Senator Carl Levin (September 12, 2008).
9 The remainder of the Second Bybee mema hes not been released publicly.

40 Deputy Assistart Altomey General for the OLC John Yoo, who participeted in the drafting of the Second Byboe
meme, addedthnmthecomdoftthubuydahhmogaﬁm applicetion of the fedaral anti-torturs statute to the
facts “depend[ed] not just on the pearticular interrogation method, but an the subject’s physical and mental
gondition " From the Department of Justice to Guantanamo Bay: Administration Lawyers and Administration
Intarrogation Rules, Part III, House Committes on the Aliciary, Subcommittee on the Constination, Civil Rights,
and Civil Liberties, 110% Cong. (June 26, 2008).

24 Eram the Department of Justice to Guantanama Bay: Administration Lawyers and Administration Interrogation
R_nlu._Pm't Houss Cammittes on the Judiciary, Subcomrmittee on the Constihution, Civil Rights, and Civil
T iberties, 110% Cong. (Tune 26, 2008).

2y ominstion of John Rizzo to be CIA General Counsel, Sendte Selact Comugittes on Intelligence, 110* Cag.
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government inferest 1 that subject, but that he did not know if that information was used as
support in any OLC legal analysis, and if he did know, he did not recall ¥

(U) Then-NSC Legal Advisor John Bellinger said that some of the legal analysis of
proposed interrogation technigues prepared by the &mm of Justice referred to “the
psychological effects of military resistance training” © 10 fact, Jay Bybes, the Assistant
Attorney General who signed the two August 1, 2002 opinions, said that he saw an assessment of
the psychological efects of military resistance training in July 2002 in meetings in his office
with John Yoo and two other OLC attorneys. Judge Bybee said the assessment — which to the
best of his recollection had been provided by the C1A — informed the August 1, 2002 OLC legal
opinion that has not been reloased publicly.”’ In bis June 26, 2008 testimony before the House
Judiciary Committee, John Yoo refused to say whether or not he ever discussed or recgived

- nformation about SERE techniques a5 the Angust 1, 2002 memos were being drafted.”™

(U) While Judge Bybee said that he did not recall “any written advice provided to any
povernmental agency prior to August 1, 2002, on the meaning of the standards of conduct
required for interrogation under the federal anti-torture statute or o specific interrogation
methods” the August 1, 2002 memos wete not the only ogcasion on which DOJ provided legal
advice on the CIA’s interrogation program.** John Bellinger, the NSC Legal Advisor, said that
te understood that in 2002 and 2003, the OLC provided “ongoing advice 1o CIA regerding CIA’S
interrogation program.”*’ And then-National Security Advisor Condoleezza Rice said that she
was present at “several” meetings in the White House at which Mr. Yo provided legal advice.”
Ms. Rice said that she asked Attorney General John Asheroft “personally to review and confirm”
DoJ's legal guidance.” o

F. JPRA's Special Program In Support aj-(U)

1 August 2002 Training Proposal @)

OLC issued its two legal

‘ On Augnst 12 2002 awwknndahnlfaﬁerﬂm
opinions, the“mﬂ JPRA Chief of Staff Li Col

Baumgartner and JPRA OS0 Chief Christopher Wirts a draft memorandum outlining the ]I

W Thid. at 104, 106; see alzo Redartad version of Memo from Assistant Attomey General Jay 'Bybee. Interrogation
of [mdacrcd] (Auguat 1,2002) (In the \mredacted sections of the Second Bybee memo, the mema states. “Yowr
review of the literature neovered no empirical data on the use of these procedures, with the exception [redacted].”)

4 Yo Bellinger snswers to July 31, 2008 itten questions from Senstor Carl Lavin (September 12, 2008).

7 Juy Bybee nswers to July 31, 2008 written questions from Senator Carl Levin (October 14, 2008).

248 prom the Departmant of Justice to Guantanama Bay: Administration Lawyers and Administration Intemrogation
Rulu.PntIgLHm Committee on the Judicisry, Subcummitwnontlemﬁﬁunm Civil Rig’rxu,mdt:ivil
Libesties, 110® Cong, (Juns 26, 2008).

0 oy Bybee answers to Fuly 31, 2008 written questions from Senstor Catl Levin (October 14, 2008).

1 1ok Bellinger answers to July 31, 2008 written questions from Senstor Carl Levin (September 12, 2008).

1 Condoleezza Rice nswers to July 31, 2008 written questions from Senator Casl Levin (September 12, 2008).



The draft requirement continued:

[Tinformaticn that your or iation has already provided, coupled with our
officers’ experience confirms our opinion that JPRA assets are more than capable
of uroviding the necessary training that we need to start our ipitiatives. Basically,
w consisting
of academic training and practical exercises aimed at learning both interrogation
and resistance 10 interrogation techniques.**

- -- draft described four areas of *
ectives,’

“Resistance Traiming,” including academic lessons in interrogation and resistance to
interrogation techniques, such as psychological or physiological pressures; (3) “Practice
Interrogations/Resistance 1o [T}nterrogations/{Fleedback,” including practice on “[pJhysical
pressures techniques and training™; and (4) “Review and Training of Resistance Training
Operating Instructions.”*¢ :

Memo fom to Chief of Staff, JPRA (Lt Col Danic] Baumgariner Chiaf, Mission Support

(Christopher Wirts), Reguext for Truimng Support (August 12, 2002) (hereinafter to JPRA, Request for
Training Support (August 12, 2002)").

24 hid (emphasis added).
M Thid
oo PRA, Request for Training Sipport (August 12, 2002, Mz Wigs sai did not have the
ise to tench *legal perspectives™ and in his discussions with abowt the training
indicated that JPRA would not be expected to teach that topie, Committee stafY interview of Christophar
Wirts (January 4, 2008).

o [ 52RA, Regquest for Training Support (Angust 12, 2002).
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he thought the techniques memo was “stupid,” though he did not share his view with LTC Phifer
at the time.*$" LTC Phifer told the Committee that he was uncomfortable with the idea of using
some of the techniques in his memo but that MG Dunlavey pressured him to finish the request. 52

B. GTMO Staff Judge Advocate Conducts “Legal Review of Aggressive
Interrogation Technigues” (U) ‘

. (U) The October 11, 2002 tec iques Mmemo was accompanied by a cover memo and
legal brief written by GTMQ’s Staff Judge Advocate (SJA) LTC Diane Beaver, The cover
memo stated simply that “the proposed strategies do not violate applicable federal faw. ™

(U) LTC Beaver told the Compmittee that she drafted the legal brief with her staff over the
course of the 2002 Columbus Day weekend**  She told the Committes that she had not seen
either of the legal memoranda produced by the Department of Justice Office of Legal Counsel on
August 1, 2002 and that she did not receive input on the legal brief from anyone outside of
GTMO. The minutes of the October 2, 2002 meeting with CIA lawyer Jonathan Fredman,
however, reflect that LTC Beaver was present when he discussed the Torture Convention {(and
the federal law implementing the ireaty). In that discussion, Mr. Fredman described “severe
physical pain” as “anything causing permanent damage to major organs or body parts.™*** The
idea that “severe physical pain” constituting torture had to rise to the level of “organ failure,
irnpairment of bodily fimctions or even death”™ had been discussed in the OLC legal memo of
August 12002, known as the First Bybee metno. ¢

(U) LTC Beaver began her analysis of the “aggressive” techniques by stating that the
wJetainees currently held at Guantanamo Bay . . . are not protected by the Geneva
Convemtions.™*! LTC Beaver stated that the Office of the Secretary of Defense “had not
adopted specific guidelines regarding interrogation techniques for detaince operations at GTMO”
and she dismissed the Jongstanding gnidance ont intesrogation of detainees contained in the Army
Field Manual (FM) 34-52 as not binding'** .

1 Copmittes staff interview of David Becker (September 17, 2007).
A7 Committes staff interview of LTC Jarald Phifer (Tune 27, 2007).

49} femo from LTC Diane Beaver for Commander, Joint Task Force 170, Lagal Review of Aggressive Intsrrogation
Technigues (October 11, 2002).

084~ mmittee staff interview of L'TC Diane Besver (Novembar 9, 2007).

4% Counter Resistance Strategy Maeting Minutes et 3,

46 ) forno from Assistant Atiomey General Jay Bybee to White House Counsel Alberto Gonzales, Standards
Conduct for Interrogation wxier 18 U.5.C. §§ 2340-23404 (August 1, 2002). ‘

7 ) femo from LTC Disne Beaver for Comsiander, Joint Task Faree 170, Legal Brigf on Proposed Counter-
Revisunce Strategies (October 11, 2002) (hereinafter “ LTC Beaver, Lagal Brief on Proposed Counter-Resistance
Stratagies™). ‘
“MSIAcmdudedmmhmuﬂlemhniqummﬁrAmyFM34—52m“muninudby.mdmfo:mtnﬂw
Geneva Conventicns nd applicable intemational law,” and that the Genave Conventions do not apply 83 @ matter of
lav;. the Field Manus! wes “not binding.” See LTC Beaver, Lagal Brief on Proposed Counter-Resistance Strategies
at 1. '
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(U) In her memo, LTC Beaver stated that U.S. obligations under the Convention Against
Torture restricted only those cruel, inhuman, or degrading acts that were also prohibited by the
“eyrrent standard articulated in the Eighth Amendment” against “cruel and unusual B
punishment.***® The memo concluded that the proposed interrogation techniques would be
consistent with the Eighth Amendment standard so long as any force used could “plausibly have
been thought necessary . . . to achieve a legitimate governmentsl objective and it was applied ina
good faith effort and not maliciously or sadistically for the very purpose of causing harm.™®

(U) LTC Beaver also concluded that the proposed interrogation techniques would not
violate the federa] anti-torture statute so long as they were not specifically intended to cause
severe physical pain or suffering or prolonged mental harm. LTC Beaver conducted her analysis
with the “assum[ption] that severe physical pain {would not be] inflicted” and “absent any
evidence that any of these strategies [would] in fact cause prolonged and long lagting mental
harm.™ LTC Beaver told the Committee that she did not conduct any research to determine
whether the use of the techniques described in the accompanying request for authority would, in
fact, result in long-term mental harm.*®

The October 2, 2002 BSCT memo, however, had specifically cautioned that
the techniques “could affect the short term and/or long tetm physical and/or mental health of the
detainee . . . [and that] physical and/or emotional harm from the . . . techniques may emerge
months or even years after their use M

(U) LTC Beaver also found that some of the proposed tactics would constitute a “per se
violation” of the Uniform Code of Military Justice (UCMYJ) Article that prohibits military
personnel from committing assault, and could violate the Article that prohibits military personnel
from communicating a threat.** As a result, L'TC Beaver said it would be “advizable to have
permission or immunity in advance from the convening authority for military members utilizing
these methods.™® In a November 4, 2002 letter to the Joint Staff J.5, the Marine Corps
commented on the SJA’s recormendation to convey “permission or immunity in advance,”
noting that “[w}e are unaware of any authority that would allow a convening authority to give
‘permission or immunity’ in advance to commit a criminal violation."*® Likewise, military
lawyers from the Judge Advocate General’s Legal Center and School later said that LTC
Beaver's “proposal to immunize intetrogators, given that & number of the proposed techniques in

9 1 TC Beaver, Legal Brief on Fropased Counter-Resistance Strategies at 2.
4 Thid. at 5. ' :

*1 hid,

%3 (ommmittas staff interview of LTC Diane Beaver (November 9, 2007).

40 BSCT, Counter-Resistance Strategies (October 2, 2002).

41 1C Beaver, Legal Briaf on Proposed Counter-Resistance Strategies at 5.

5 Thid, _

* \Memo from Masine Corps Service Planner to Director, J-5, The Joint Staff, Counter-Resistence Techriques
(November 4, 2002) ser alse Section IV D, infra,
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insua"oonstitutud violations of the UCMI, was not only unprecedented, but lacked any basis in
law.’

(U) Based on her legal review, LTC Beaver recommended that the “proposed methods of
interrogation be approved,” but that interrogators be trained to use the methods and that
“interrogations involving category II and T1T methods” undergo & legal, medical, behavioral
science, and intelligence review prior to commencement.*

(U) LTC Beaver told the Committee that she called the SOUTHCOM Staff Judge
Advocate COL Manny Supervielle, likelg‘y on Sundzy, October 10, 2002 and sent SQUTHCOM a
draft of the legal memo that same day.*® She said that she told COL Supervielle that she “really
needed some help” but that she received no comments Fom SOUTHCOM prior to submitting the
final memo the next day. "™ LTC Beaver said that she also tatked to the Legal Counsel to the
Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff CAPT Jane Dalton and asked for her help, but was told that
oho should talk to COL Supervielle.*! CAPT Dalton said that she did not recall that
conversation with L.TC Beaver.*”? LTC Beaver also told the Committee that MG Dunlavey did
not comment on drafts of the memo and that she did not discuss it with him after it was
completed.*™

C Chain of Conumand Considers the Request for Interrogation Techniques a1
CITF and FBI Raise Objections (U)

(U) On October 11, 2002, MG Dunlavey submitted LTC Phifer’s memo and LTC
Beaver's legal analysis to General James Hill, the Commander of the United States Southern
Command (SOUI'HCQM?. He also sent his own memo requesting approval fo use the
interrogation techniques,"”! MG Dunlavey wrote:

[ am fully aware of the techniques currently employed to gain valnable
intelligence in support of the Global War on Terrorism Although these
techniques have resulted in significant exploitable intelligence, the same methods
have become less effective over time. 1 believe the methods and techniques
delineated in the accompanying J-2 memorandum will enhance our efforts to
extract additional information, Based on the analysis provided by the JTF-170

%714 Col Kantwill et sl., Improving the Fighting Position, A Practitionar’s Guidé to Opsrational Law Suppart o
the Interragation Procers, 2005 Army Lawyer (July 2005) at 12, 14. .

4t | 16 Beaver, Legal Brief on Proposed Counter-Resistance Strategies gt 7.

8 oo mittee staff interview of LTC Diane Beaver (November 9, 2007).

% § ASC Hearing (June 17, 2008); Committes staff intarview of LTC Diane Beaver (November 9, 2007).
1 SASC Hearing (Juns 17, 2008).

“7 Ihid,

™ Committes staff interview of LTC Dimne Beaver (November 9, 2007) .

74 Memo from MG Miches! Dunlsvey o USSOUTHCOM Commender GEN James Hill CounterRasistance
Strategies (October 11, 2002) (hereinaftar “"MG Dunlavey to GEN Hill, Counter-Resistance Strategies.”)
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SIA, }1$have concluded that these techniques do not violate U.S. or international
laws." ™.

(U) On October 25, 2002, GEN Hill forwarded the JTF=170 request to Chairman of the
Joint Chiefs of Staff, Gen Richard Myers, with a memorandum stating that “despite our best
efforts, some detainees have tenaciously resisted our current interrogation methods, "¢ He
continued: “[o]ur respective staffs, the Office of the Secretary of Defense, and Joint Task Force
170 have been trying to identify counter-resistant techniques that we can lawfully employ.”™"
When later asked, GEN Hill could not recall whether SOUTHCOM rroduced a written opinion
analyzing the GTMO request separate from LTC Beaver's opinion,*’*

(U) Asto techniques in the GTMO request for interrogation techniques, GEN Hill said
that he “did discuss the topic of SERE training in a general manner with MG Dunlavey.™”
Years later, in a June 3, 2004 press briefing, GEN Hill noted the influence of the Fort Bragg trip
and SERE school techniques on the request, stating:

The staff at Guantanamo working with behavioral scientists, having gone up to
our SERE school and developed a list of techniques which our lawyers decided

. and looked at, said were OK. I sent that list of technigues up to the Secretary and
said, in order for us to get at some of these very high-profile, high-value targets
who are resistant to techniques, | may need greater flexibility. But I want a legal
review of it and you to tell me that, policy-wise, it’s the right way to do
business, *®

(U) In his October 25, 2002 mema, GEN Hill stated that, although he believed Categorics
I and 1] techniques were “legal and humane,” he was uncertain about techniques in Category III
and was “particularly troubled by the use of implied or expressed threats of death of the detainee
or his family.”™ Nevertheless, GEN Hill said that he “desire[d] 1o have as many options as
possible at [his] disposal” and asked that Departments of Defense and Justice attorneys review
the Category III techniques. *®

7 MG Dimlavey to GEN Hill, Counter-Resistance Strategies,

% Mamo from GEN James Hill to Chairman of the Joint Chicfs of Staff GEN Richerd Myers, Counter-Resistance
Techmiques, (October 25, 2002) (hersinafter "GEN Hill to CICS, Counper-Resistance Techvigues. ")

7 GEN Hill to CICS, Counter-Resistance Techoriques.

™ GEN James T. Hill answers to July 31, 2008 written questions from Senstor Carl Levin (August 20, 2008).
® bid, _ '

“ June 3, 2004 Media Availability with Commander U.S. Southemn Command.

*! GEN Hill to CICS, Counter-Resistance Techniques,

m' GEN B!l tos CICS, Connter-Resistance Techodgues; In testimomy 1o the Army IG, the SOUTHCOM Commander
said that he thought the request “wes importent enough to where there ought to be & high level look at it... There
ought to be o mejor policy discussion of this and everybady cught to be involved.” Army IG, Interview of GEN
James T. Hill {October 7, 2005), at 7.
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(U) One SOUTHCOM Assistant Staff Judge Advocate LTC Mark Gingras testified to the

Army 1G that lawyers for SOUTHCOM had concems about Category Il and Category 111
tec}nﬁquan.m Regarding the GTMO request for techniques, LTC Gingras told the Army IG:

As lawyers we're talking about adherence to the rule of law being important, and
that's what we're trying to tell everybody as we travel around the world to these
other countries. That's paramount t0 democracy. And so suddenly we Took like
we're brushing this aside or we’ro twisting the law. The feeling was that decision
rakers within the Pentagon didn’t much care about that. They cared about
winning the War on Terrorism, And if thet meaﬁ you had to pull out fingernails

you'd pull out fingermails, figuratively speaking.”
D.  Miliary Services React to GTMO Requet for Interropation Techniques (U)

(U) On October 30, 2002, after receiving Gen Hill's memo and the GTMO request, the
Joint Staff J-3 requested that the military - rvices comment on the request.

On November 1, 2002, the Air Force responded, expressing “geriols CONCEINS
regarding the legality of many of the proposed techniques” and stating that “some of these
techniques could be construed as ‘torture,’ a3 that crime is defined by 18 U.5.C. 2340.7% The
Air Force memorandum added that, with respect to potential prosecutions, the use of Category
T techniques would “almost certainly” result in any statements obtained being inadmissible.
The memotandum stated that admissibility of evidence obtained using Categories Tand I
techniques, the latter of which included stress positions, the use of dogs, removal of clothing, and
deprivation of light and auditory stimuli, among other techniques, would be “fact specific, but
the same concerns remain.™*® The Air Force memo contimed: “Additionally, the techniques
described may be subject to challenge as failing to meet the requirements outlined in the military
order to treat detainees humanely. .. Tmplementation of the proposed techniques would require a
change in Presidential policy.™*® The memo stated that the Air Force “concurs in the need to
conduct an in-depth legal and policy assessment, a8 recommended by [the SOUTHCOM
Oammanderl;&:rior to implementation of the proposed counter-resistance interrogation
techniques.” ‘

(U) On November 4, 2002, the Navy. responded to the Joint Staff"s request for comment,
stating that it “concurfred] with developing a range of advanced counter-resistance techniques,”

= Army 1G, Interview of LTC Mk Gingras (Octaber 11, 2005) 8t 20.

™ Thid. . :

a2 5oin Staff Action Processing Form (SIS 02-06697), Counter-Ragistance Techniques (October 30, 2002).

5 [yergriment of the Air Force Memo for UN and Multilatars) Affair Division (-5), Joint Staff, Counter-Resisiaricé
Techmiques (November 1, 2002). :

#Thid ot 1.
2 Thid,

9 Thid, ot 2.
0 thid. st 1.



but recommending “‘a more detailed interagency legal and policy review be conducted on the...
proposed techniques, ™! '

(U) That same day, the Marine Corps submitted its writien comments, which concluded
that “several of the Category II and I techniques arguably violate faderal law, and would
expose our service members to possible prosecution.”™? The Marine Corps memo stated that the
use of the techniques would also create *exposure to criminal prosecution under the UCMI,***
Again, Category 1Tl techniques included the use of scenarios designed to convince the detainee
that death or severely painful consequences were imminent for him or his family, exposure to
cold weather or water, use of a wet towel and dripping water to induce the misperception of
suffocation, and non-injurious physical contact such as grabbing, poking and light pushing.***
Category Il included such techniques as stress positions, deprivation of light and auditory
stimuli, the use of a hood during questioning, 20 hour interrogations, removal of clothing, and
the use of detainee phobias, such as dogs, to induce stress. The memo also stated the Marine
Corps “disagree[d] with the position that the proposed plan is legally sufficient.”*

(U) A few days later, the Army submitted comments from both the Office of the Judge
Advocate General (OTJAG) and the CITF.**¢ The Army’s cover memo stated that “Army
interposes significant legal, policy and practical concerns regarding most of the Category II and
alj of the Category II1 techniques proposed” and that the Army “concurs in the recommendation
for a comprehensive legal review of this proposal in its entirety by the Department of Defense
and the Department of Justice,””’ The OTJAG’s memorandum, which was attached, stated that
Category Il techniques “violale the President’s order {on humane treatment] and various UUCM]J
articies” and that the use of scenarios designed to convince the detainee that death or severely
painful consequences are imminent for hitn and/or his family and the use of a wet towe! and
dripping water to induce the misperception of suffocation “appear to be clear violations of the
federal torture statute.”™*® The OTJAG memorandum also stated that Category I techniques of
stress positions, deprivation of light and auditory stimuli, and using individual phobias to induce
stress “crosses the line of ‘humane’ treatment, would likely be considered maltreatment under

! Department of the Navy Memo fer the Dircctor for Strategic Plans and Policy Directorate (J-5) Joint Staff, Navy
Flarmer's Memo WRT Counter-Resistance Techniques (SIS 02-06697) (November 4, 2002).

*2 Memo from Marine Corps Service Planner to Director, -5, The Joint Staff, Cownter-Resistance Techniques
(November 4, 2002), ‘

2 Ibid
“ LTC Phifer to MG Dunlavey, Request for Approval of Countar-Resistance Strategies,

** Memo from Marine Corps Service Planner to Director, J-5, Tha Jaint Staff. Counter-Resistance Techmigues
(November 4, 2002), '

N Memo from the Atmy Deputy to the Assistant Deputy Chief of Staff for Operations and Plans (JToint Affairs) to
the Joint Staff, J-5/UNMA [UN end Muttilaters] Affairs Division], SIS 02-06697 (November 7, 2002); Memo from
Departmert of the Army, Offiee of the Judgs Advocate (International end Operational Law) 1 The Office of the
Army General Counsel, Review--Propased Counter-Resistance Technigues (undated) (hereinafter “DAJA(IO)
Memo for Army General Counsel, Proposed Commter-Resiztance Techmiques.™) ' ‘

“7 DAJACIO) Memo for Army General Counsel, Proposed Counter-Resistance Tachniques.

1 Ihid,



Asticle 93 of the [Uniform Code of Military Justice], and may violate the Federal torture
statute.”™ The memo continued that that removal of clothing and forced grooming “may be
considered inhumane” if done only for interrogation purposes and stated “if we mistreat

detainees, we will quickly lose the moral high ground.”™" The Army concurred with GEN
Hill’s request for a legal review before techniques were adopted.** :

(U) Military lawyers were not the only personnel to object to GTMO’s request for
aggressive techniques, CITF Deputy Comander Mark Fallon told the Committee that it was
CITF"s view that the techniques proposed by TTF-170 would actually strengthen, rather than
weaken, detainee resistance. He explained: .

Our view was that employing techniques that validated [the detainees] prior
training end adverse views would serve to harden resistance and reinforce what
they had been told to expect... We pointed out that SERE school tactics were
developed to better prepare U.S. military personnel to resist interrogations and not
a5 @ means of obtaining reliable information. CITF was troubled with the
rationale that techniques used to harden resistance o ilﬂmsoogations would be the
basis for the utilization of techniques to obtain information.

 (U) CITF's legal view was reflected in 2 November 4, 2002 memo from CITF Chief
Legal Advisor MAJ Sam MecCahon, which was also attached 10 the Army's response to the Jont
staff MAJ McCahon wrote:

[Category] NI and certain [Category] I techniques may subject service members
to punitive articles of the UCMJ... CITF personnel who are awars of the use or
abuse of certain techniques may be exposed to lisbility under the UCMJ for
failing 10 intercede or report incidents, if an inquiry later determines the conduct
10 be in violation of either the Eighth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution, the
Uniform Code of Military Justice or 13 U.8.C. §2340.°% .

(U) MAJ McCahon also raiséd concerns about the impact of the techniques on
evidentiary proceedings: :
One detainee subjected to these techniques could taint the voluntary nature of all
other confessions and information derived from detainces not subjected to the
aggressive techniques.*™ ‘ :

9 Thid
500 i,
! Thid,
% R eaponses of Mr. Mark Fellan 1o questionneiro of Senstor Car] Levin (September 15, 2006) at 7.

M5 forni> from CITF Chief Legal Advisor MAJ Sam MoCahon: to CITF Commendet, Assessment of JTF-170
C.'mm_tenﬂmstmw Strategies and the Potential Impact on CITF Mission and Persormal (ovember 4, 2002)
(hereinafver “MeCahon to CDR CTTF, Assessmient of JTF-170 Counter-Resistance Strategies.”)

34 \fcCahar to CDR CITF, Assessment of JTF-170 Counter-Resistance Strategies.

69



(U} MAT McCahon added that “[b]oth the utility and legality of applying certain |
techniques” in the October 11, 2002 memo are “cquestionable,” and recommended that CITF
personne] not participate in or even observe the use of aggressive techniques.”® MAJ McCahon
concluded:

I cannot advocate any action, interrogation or otherwise, that is predicated upon
the principle that all is well if the ends justify the means and others are not aware
of how we conduct our business.”

(U) MAJ McCahon told the Committee that his memorandum prompted a subsequent
meeting at the Pentagon.’”’

(U) When the October 11, 2002 GTMO request amrived in the DoD) General Counsel’s
office, DoD) Associate Deputy General Counsel for International Affairs Eliana Davidson said
that she was asked 10 provide her thoughts on the request. Ms. Davidson said that she had a brief
conversation with Mr. Haynes where she told hirn that the GTMO request needed further
assessment.*® Mr, Haynes stated that he did not “recall that specifically.”*®

E, Department of Defense General Counsel Quashes Joint Staff Legal Review (U)

(U) When the October 11, 2002 GTMO request arrived af the Joint Staff, CAPT Jane
Dalton, the Legal Counse] to the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, said it was “obvious to
[her] that there were sorne legal issues” with the request.”!? She said that techniques in Category
11 of the request “needed to be looked at closely” and that Category III techniques “had
significant, significant concerns.” ! CAPT Dalton found LTC Beaver's lega] analysis
“woefislly inadequate” and said it relied on 8 methodology and conclusions that were “very
strained.1* Rather than simply deny the request, however, CAPT Dalton said that “she owed it
to the combatant commander to do 2 full and complete review.”** She subsequently directed her
staff to set up a secure video teleconfererice with represemtatives from the Defense Intelligence
Agency (DIA), the Army’s intelligence school at Fort Huachuca, U.S. Southern Command
(SOUTHCOM), and GTMO to find out more information about the techniques m the request and
to “lbegin dli“scussing the legal issies to see if we could do ... our own independent legal
analysis. :

* Thid

** Thid | ‘

7 Committee naff interview of MAJ Sarn McCahon (Tune 15, 2007).

% Committec staff interview of Eliana Davidsen (May 23, 2008).

- " SASC Hewring (June 17, 2008),

9 Committee staff interview of RADM Jane Daltoss (April 10, 2008) at 33.
U hid ar 45,

2 Thid. at 41.

1 Toid., ar 33,

M hid at 34,
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(U) CAPT Dalton recalled making Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff General Richard
Myers aware of the concerns expressed by the military services.””® The Chairman said, however,
that he did “not specifically recall the objections of the Services being raised” to his attention at
that time. '

(U) CAPT Dalton; also recalled that her staf? briefed the Dol General Counsel’s office
about the concerns submitted by the military services and that the General Counsel himself “was
awars of the concems.”” In a February 2008 interview, DoD Associate Deputy General
Counsel for International Affairs Eliana Davidson recalled that the service comments were made
available to the General Counsel’s office.”® Dol General Counsel Jim Haynes stated, however,
that he “did not recall secing” the memos 2t that time and “didn’t know they sxisted.”* He
stated that he did not recall being informed by anyone that the military services had concerns
about the legality of Category II techniques in the request and that he did not have a “specific
recollection” of CAPT Dalton making him aware that there were concems about the legality of
techniques in the GTMO request.”*

(U) According to CAPT Dalton, after she and her staff initiated their analysis, CJCS GEN
Myers directed her to stop that review. CAPT Dalton said that GEN Myers returned froma
meeting and “advised me that [DoD General Counsel] Mr. Haynes wanted me. . . to cance] the
video teleconference and 1o stop™” conducting the review because of concerns that “people were
going to see” the GTMO request and the military services’ analysis of it.’? According to CAPT
Dalton, Mr. Haynes “wanted to keep it much more close hold.” % When CAPT Dalton “leamed
that jthe DoD General Counsel] did not want that broad based legal and policy rsview to take
place,” she and her staff stopped their review,’” This was the oply time that CAPT Dalton had
ever been asked 1o stop analyzing a request that came to her for her review. "¢

-CAPT Dalton recalled that prior to bein& directed to stop the review, her staff had
begun writing draft comments on the GTMO request.”> An undated drafl of 2 memorandum
from GEN Myérs to SOUTHCOM Comrmander GEN Hill, analyzing the October 11, 2002

15 SASC Hearing (June 17, 2008).
516  exnonses of Generel Richard Myers to written questions from Senstor Car] Levin (April 30, 2008).
17 g ASC Hearing (June 17, 2008).

3 ~ommittes staff interview of Bliana Davidson (February 21, 2008). Ms. Davidson said in 8 subsequent interview
that she was riot swere of the military services’ comments before discussing the October 11, 2002 GTMO request
with the DoD General Counsel. Commitise staff interview of Eliens Davidson (May 23, 2008).

1% & ASC Hearing (fune 17, 2008).

" Committes steff interview of William J. Haynes I (April 25, 2008) at 163-65.
2 Copmittee staff interview of RADM Jane Dalton (April 10, 2008) at 34,

2 hid. at 35.

0 SASC Hearing (June 17, 2008).

M ihid,

7 Cammittee staff interview of RADM Jane Dalton (April 10, 2008) at 37,

7



GTMO request, stated “We do not believe the proposed plan is legally sufficient.”* The draft
memo stated that “several of the Category ITI techniques arguably violate federal law, and could
expose interrogators to possibla prosecution” under the federal anti-torture laws, >’ The draft
stated that techniques in the request *'may be subject to challenge as failing to meet the
requirements outlined in the military order to treat detainees humanely” and recommended an

“in-depth technical, policy, and legal assessment” of the techniques prior to their
implementation. ¥

{U) GEN Myers said that he had “no specific recollection” of discussing with CAPT
Dalton her efforts to conduct an analysis of the October 11, 2002 GTMO request. *® He said
that while he “did not dispute™ asking her to stop working on her analysis and acknowledged that
Joint Staff records indicated that she did stop work ot her analysis, he had "no recollection or
doing so” and did “not recall anyone suggesting” to him that she stop her review.”® DoD
General Counsel Jim Haynes said that while it was “possible” that the issue could have come up
in a conversation with the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, he did not “recall that specific
conversation” or expressing any opinion of any kind with respect to CAPT Dalton's review.”!

F.  GIMO and JFRA Plan for Additional Interrogation Training (U)

. While GTMO’s request for approval to use aggressive interrogation tebhniques was
pending, JPRA staff was developing an agenda for possible follow-up training for interrogation
personnel at GTMO.

. In mid-October 2002, JPRA developed a plan of instruction to provide training on the
techniques to GTMO interrogators.**? The training plan was virtually identical to a draft agenda
developed for the Fort Bragg training of GTMO personnel that took place in September, which
included instruction of the “use of physiological pressures."*

Il (FOUO) David Becket, the GTMO ICE Chief, told the Committec that once they
received authority to use the techniques in the October 11, 2002 memo, GTMO interrogators
would need training on the techniques. ™ A draft message order circulated between GTMO and
JPRA staff in late October requested “mission critical training support” for "approximately|

¥ Draft memo from CJCS Richard Myers to Commander, United States Southern Ceommend, Counter-Resistance
Techrigues (mqu;).

2 id

% 1hid, .
;Olg;upnmm of GEN (Ret.) Richard Myers to April 16, 2008 written questions fram Senator Carl Lavin (April 30,
20 mhid,

! Committee staff interview of William J. Haynes I (Agpril 25, 2008) at 168.

2 Memorandum From Joseph Witach to JPRA/CC, JFRA/CD, JFRA/COS, JPRA/OSO, Plan of Instruction (PO
Jor TE.170 Training Support (October 16, 2002). .

1 See Soction Tl D, supra; Plan of Instruction (PO) for TF.1 70 Training Support (October 16, 2002).
™ Cammittee staff interview of David Becker (Ssptember 17, 2007).
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personnel” at GTMO.** The drafl message order stated that the training would “provide the
necessary tools JTF-GTMO interrogators require to accomplish their mission critical tasks,**

A November 15, 2002 staff memo to the Joint Staff J-2 stated that JTF-
GTMO had requested training on the SERE school techniques and that the rainers were
expected to arrive in the first week of December.> The JPRA Operational Support Office
(0S0) Chief Christopher Wirts told the Committee that the requirement for JPRA to provide the
training was never approved and that his agency never conducted the training,”® However, in

. January 2003, two instructors from the Navy SERE school, John Rankin and Christopher Ross,
travelled to GTMO to train interrogators on the use of physical pressures, including slapping,

walling, and stress positions.””

V.  Command Change at Gaantanumo as Dispute over Agpressive Techniques
Continues (U)

A Major General Geoffrey Miller Takes Command of JTF-GTMO (U)

(1) In November 2002 a new Commandet, MG Geoffrey Miller, took command of JTF-
GTMO. At the time, MG Miller had no first-hand experience with detainces or
interrogations.**’

(U) MG Miller told the Committee that prior to taking command, he met with
SOUTHCOM Commander GEN Hill and his aff.*" During those meetings, MG Miller got the
impression that MG Dunlavey, the previous Commander, had bypassed the chain of compand
by raising issues directly with the Joint Chiefs of Staff and Department of Defense staff,. MG
Miller told the Committee that GEN Hill authorized him to speak directly with the Joint Staff
and the Office of the Secretary of Defense, but that he told SOUTHCOM he would keep
SOUTHCOM informed of those communications.**

(U) MG Miler said that, while he was in Cotmmand at GTMO, he had direct discussions
with the Dol> General Counsel's office and the Office of the Assistant Secretary of Defense for
Special Operations and Low Intensity Conflict (ASD SO/LIC)® MG Miller also testified 1o the
Army IG that he and Deputy Secretary of Defense Paul Wolfowitz “talked once a week when I

295 iongil from Chris Wirta Richard Driggers, Joseph Witsch, SN -3 Gary Percival
(October 25, 2002) (hercinafter ™ Chris Wirts (October 29, 2002).™)

26 Email from Chris Wirts (Oeteber 29, 2002).
97 [F.170 and JTF-160 were combinad to form JTF-GTMO in October 2002; Meme om [

" [Joint Staff), GTMO Detainee (November 15, 2002).

% Committes stafY interview of Chris Wirts (Janusry 4, 2008).

2 549 Section VI C, infra. |

4 Army IG, Interview of MG Geoffray Miller (October 20, 2005) at 5.
1 (ommittee staff interview of MG Geoffrey Miller (December 6, 2007),
*8 Thid.

€ Tid,
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was in Guantanamo,”* Lt Col Ted Moss, the JTF-GTMO ICE Chief who began his tour of
duty st GTMO in December 2002, said that Deputy Secretary Wolfowitz was in phone contact
with MG Miller “a 1ot.”** However, M3 Miller told the Committee that he misspoke when he
testified tothe Army IG and that, to the best of his knowledge, he did not speak to Deputy

Secretary Wolfowitz on the phone while he was at GTMO, but only briefed him quartetly, in
person, on GTMO operations.**

(U) Shortly after MG Miller arrived at GTMO, the Director for Intelligence (J.2) LTC
Phifer informed him of the October 11, 2002 request. ™’ . Although he later approved an
interrogation plan that included reference to Category 11l techniques, MG Miller told the Army
IG that he believed that the techniques in Category Il and some techniques in Category Il were
“overly aggressive™ and that he had not intended to use them.**® MG Miller said he had concerns
with stregs positions, removal of clothing, and use of dogs, among other techniques,
Nevertheless, there is evidence that those techniques were used at GTMO while he was in
command. MG Miller told the Committee that he thought he discussed his concerns about the
techniques with LTC Beaver in early November before the Secretary approved their use, but that
he did not raise it with SOUTHCOM because he wanted to see which techniques would be
approved.*® |

(U) MG Miller told the Army IG that when he arrived at GTMO, there was significant
tension between JTF<GTMO, CITF, and FBI and that he sought to get all three organizations to
work in concert. **® Despite MG Miller’s stated intent, his decision to approve an interrogation
plan for Mohatuned al Khatani that was opposed by the CITF and FBI, drove a deeper wedge
between his organization and both CITF and FBL

B Khatani Interrogation Plan Fuels Dispute Over Aggressive Techniques (U)

(U) After their unsuccessful interrogation of Khateni in October 2002, JTTF-GTMO staff
spent several weeks drafting an extensive new interrogation plan. The plan was the first “Special
Interrogation Plan* at GTMO and it would encounter strong resistance from both CITF and the
FBI One FBI Special Agent told the Committee thet he thought Khatani’s intesrogation would
define the conduct of future interrogations at GTMO and therefore they “had to get it right. "

. Several drafis of JTF-GTMO’s interrogation plan for Khatani were circulated at
GTMO in November 2002, The discussion below focuses primarily on two of those drafis, one
circulated on November 12, 2002 and another which was drafted about a week later and appears

W Army 1G, Intarview of MO Geoffrey Miller {fune 28, 2005).

3 Committes staff interview of Lt. Col. Ted Moss (October 17, 2007),
% Committer staff interview of MG Geoffrey Miller (December 6, 2007).
7 Army 1G, Interview of MG Geoffrey Miller (October 20, 2005) at 11,
4 hid. .

? Committes staff intarview of MG Geoffray Miller (December 6, 2007).
0 Army 1G, Interview of MG Geoffray Miller (October 20, 2005) at 7.

M Committee staff interview of FBI Special Agent (Novamber 8, 2007).
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1o have been finalized on November 22, 2002. Both drafts are discussed here because each
provides insight on the range of inferrogation techniques considered by senior officials at
GTMO. In addition, there is evidence that both draft plans were approved by MG Miller.
Finally, there is evidence that techniques which were included in the “draft” circulated on

November 12, 2002 but removed fiom the purported “final” plan, were nevertheless used during
Khatani's interrogation.

1. JTF-GTMO Staff Circulate Khatani Interrogation Plan (U)

Il According to the repost completed by Vice Admiral (VADM) Church, “afier
discussing the matter in early November 2002 with the Secretary of Defense, SOUTHCOM
Commander GEN Hill gave verbal approval on November 12, 2002 for use of all Category [ and
11 counter resistance techniques against Khatani.™*** GEN Hill told the Committee that he had
no recollection of that.™? That same day, November 12, 2002, LTC Phifer sent an email and a
four page interrogation plan to MG Miller stating “[h]ere is the Interrogation Plan for [Khatani]
as approved by you.”*** .

The next day, GTMO ICE Chief David Becker emailed the plan, which he referred to
as the “11 |atest approved by MG Miller,” to a GTMO interrogator.™** According to the plan, the
interropation was scheduled to begin on November 15, 2002.°% Mr. Becker told the Committee
that the plan was developed by his interrogators with input from him and LTC Phifer.* In
2005, MG Miller testified to the Army IG that he thought the plan circulated on November 12,
2002 was part of the final version of the plan that he approved.*** However, in a subsequent
investigation, MG Miller identified a later version as the final plan.’** He told the Committee
that he never approved the version of the plan circulated on November 12, 2002°% However,
contemporaneous documents indicate that others believed the plan circulated on November 12,
2002 had been spproved by both MG Miiler and SOUTHCOM and expected it to be
implemented on November 15, 2002;

2 Church Report st 115.
39 Gencral James Hil} answers to July 28, 2008 writkm questions from Senator Carl Levin (August 20, 2008).
* Ermail from LTC Jerald Phifer to MG Geaffrey Miller (November 12, 2002).

%3 BEmail from David Becker to [Interrogtion Centrol Element Staff Sergeant] (Noventber 13, 2002). Both the
plan attached to those emuils und the subsequent plan identified by the JTF-GTMO Commander a3 the “final”™ plan
contained the JITF-GTMO Commander's [Miller] signaturs block. However, the Committee hes not seen any
version of the plan that contained the JTF-GTMO Commander’s sighature.

 Interrogation Plen for ISN— [Khatani] (November 12, 2002).

7 Committee staff interview of David Becker (September 17, 2007). One FBI agent who was 8 member of the
FRT's Behaviarsl Analysis Unit told the Committee that multiple versions of the plan were actually circulated ot
GTMO during this petiod. Committes Staff interview of FBI Special Agent (November 8, 2007).

' Army 1G, Interview of MG Geoffrey Miller (October 20, 2005) at 7.
" Tnge Report. '
3 Committes staff interview of MG Geoffrey Miller (Decomber 6, 2007).
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I S T November 12, 2002 email from the Director for Intelligence LTC Phifer

to MG Miller stated, “fh]ere is the Interrogation Plan for ISN: 063 as approved by you.
Request you fwd to Gen Hill, info J2/J3/COS. We will begin at 0001 15 Nov per your

guidance.

Ml 11 November 13, 2002 email from the GTMO ICE Chief David Becker referred to
the Novemnber 125 2002 plan, which was attached to his email, a3 the “[1]atest approved
by MG Miller.”

o I A November 14, 2002 email from the GTMO Staff Judge Advocate LTC

- Diane Beaver to CITF lawyer || <t:tct. “lcjoncerning 63
{Khatani] my understanding is that NSC has weighed in and stated that intel on
this guy is ulmost matier of national security.,.We are dn‘vin% a[brward with
support of SOUTHCOM. Not sure anything else needs to be said.”

M A November 15, 2002 staff mermorandum for the J-2 of the Joint Staff stated that
"fntarraﬁgtars were preparing 1o interrogate [Khatani] beginning at 15 0001 November
2002..

According to the November 12, 2002 plan, the purpose of the interrogation
was to “break the detaines and establish his role in the attacks of Septfember] 11, 2001."°% The
interrogation would be conducted for “20-hour sessions™ and at the completion of each session,
Khatani would be permitted four hours of rest, and then “another 20 hour interrogation session
[would] begin."*¢’

*! Email from LTC Jerald Phifer to MG Geofirey Miller (November 12, 2002) (emphasis added), ttached g3
exhibit 7 to the Inge Report _ |

*© Email from David Becker to [Interrogation Control Element Staff Serpeant] (Novernber 13, 2002),

* Notea of FBI Specisl Agent, Timeline Regarding Interrogation Plans for Detaines 063, entry at *11/12/2002"
(cmphasis sdded). :

* Ermail from LTC Diane Beaver to$ (November 14, 2002) (cmphasis added). Then-Naticnal
Security Advisor Condolesz2a Rice aai was nejther briefed on, nor did she review, the Khstani
interrogation plan. Similarly, then-NSC Legs] Advisor John Bellingar said that, to the best of his recollection, he
too was neither briefed on, nor did he review the plan. Secretary of Stats Condoleezzn Rice and John Bellinger
enswers 10 July 31, 2008 written questions from Senator Carl Levin (September 12, 2008),

Z" Mormo s;::_. to [oirt Statr), GTMO Datainee RN ¥ovember 15, 2002)

¢ mnterrogation Plan for 1SN [ I cstani) vovemver 12, 2002).
*7 Tid. ' :
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Prior to the first interrogation, we would like to have the detainee’s head and
g H . . - for both 1

chological and hygiene purposes.
During the
interrogations the detaince will at times be placed in stress positions and
Blindfolded. If necessary the detainee may have his mouth taped shut in order to
keep him from talking. Written approval for the tape and for the presence of dogs
will be submitted and obtained prior to implementation *®

. The November 12, 2002 plan went on to describe four phases for the interrogation. ™
During Phase I, interrogators would increase the pressure on Khatani while not permitting him to
speak, with the expectation that Khatani, when later presented with the opportunity to speak to
an interrogator, would “provide his whole story.

=371

Phase I1I of the plan, which was entitled “Level III techniques,” was to utilize
' techniques based on those used at SERE school. The pltn stated:

The third phase of the plan to exploit 063 requires OSD approval for the SERE
interrogation technique ftraining and approval of the level three counter
interrogation resistance training submitted by JTF-GTMO. Once the approvals
are in place, those interrogation techmiques will be i lemented to enc 063

K

Thid.
 Ihid, A third draft of the plan which appears to have been produced after November 12 stated that “written
epproval for use of gauze and for the presence of doga have been approved by [MG Miller]” and wes sent from an

attomey in the DoD Genersl Counsel's office to an sttomey at the Department of Justice’s Office of Legal Counsel
in May 2003, January 31, 2008 SASC staff notes on Veughn declaration documents.

M pterrogation Plan for 1SN I (eteni] @November 12, 2002).
7 Thid,
7 Thid,
M Ihid



Il The pian’s final phase, Phase IV, was entitled “Coalition Exploitation” and stated
that: S

The fourth phase of the plan to exploit 063 requires that he be sent off island either
temporarily or permanently to either [two specified third countries], or another country to
allow those countries to en}ploy interrogation techniques that will enable them to obtain
the requisite information.*”

2 CITF and FBI Object to Proposed Interrogation Techniques (U)

(U) On November 14, 2002, CITF Commander COL Britt Mallow sent an email to MG
Miller raising concerns about both the Khatani interrogation and the October 11, 2002 request
for authority to use aggressive interrogation tachniques.”” He stated:

I strongly disagree with the use of many of the proposed [Category] 3 and some
[Category] 2 techniques. I feel they will be largely ineffective, and that they will
have serious negative material and legal effects on our investigations. I also am
extremely concemned that the use of many of these techniques will open any
military members up for potential criminal charges, and that my agents, as well as
other [military personnel] will face both legal and ethical problerns if they become
aware of their uge.”®

(U) COL Mallow told the Comumittee that in addition to his email, he raised concerns
about the Khatani interrogation in conversations with MG Miller and in “several meetings with
the DoD [General Counsel].”*”’ COL Mallow eaid that MG Miller told him in a mesting that “if
[CITF] did not want to participate in interrogations with the intelligence community because of
our objections to methods, that [CTTF] would not have the benefit of information resulting from
any of those interrogations, ™

(U) M@ Miller told the Committee that, while he did niot recal! the CITF Commander's
November 14, 2002 email specifically, he did recall communications from COL Mallow to that
effect.’” DoD General Counsel Jim Haynes stated that he did not recall seeing a copy of the
Khatani imterrogation plan at that time and did not “specifically” recall his staff advising him that
CITF and FBI had concerns with intetrogation techniques in the Khatani interrogation plan,*®

A CITF Legal Advisor, . » 5o raised objections to JTF-
GTMO’s interrogation plan for Khatani, In a November 15, 2002 memo for MG Miller, Il

™ fhid,
* Email from COL Britt Mallow to MG Geoftrey Miller (November 14, 2002),
Thid,
*7 Responses of COL (Ret.) Brigt Mallow to questionnairs of Senater Caz] Levin (September 15, 2006).
™ Mid .
" Committee staff interview of MG Geoffrey Miller {(Decerber 6, 2007).
** Committes staff intesview of William J. Haynea I (April 25, 2008) st 221, 228.
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I

said that “the reliability of any infermation gained from aggressive techniques will be
highly questionable” and objected to all “physical stresses intended for use” in Phase IIl of the
interrogation plan.*" also objected to Phase IV of the plan, stating that it implied
“that third courtry nationals with harsher imerrogation standards could be used to convey threats

to persons of family or inflict harm contrary to the Convention Against Torture.”

The Khatani interrogation did not proceed on-November 15, 2002 as
planned A November 15, 2002 staff memo 1o the Joint Staff J-2 indicated that the interrogation
was delayed while MG Miller ugonsiderfed] COL Mallow’s Objections.“m MG Miller denied
that the Khatani interrogation was delayed becausa of COL Mallow’s concems, instead telling
the Committee that the interrogation was delayed because he had not received SOUTHCOM's
approval ™ However, as noted above, GTMO Staff Judge Advocate LTC Diane Beaver
indicated in a November 14, 2002 email that JT F-GTMO planned to move forward “with support
* of SOUTHCOM."™ |

(U) In his November 14,2002 email to MG Miller, COL Mallow praposed that JTF-
GTMO and CITF develop a mutually acceptable interrogation plan for Khatani.*® On
November 20, 2002, FBI personnel, who were working closely with CITF, met with JTF-GTMO
staff to discuss developing such a plan. 581 ‘

3 JTR.GTMO Briefs DoD General Counsel’s Office on Interrogation
Plan (U) ' ' :

1 Memo ﬁmw for Major General Geoffrey Millr, Objection 2 Aggressive Interrogation
Techmiques (Novem A \

=2 Thid, . : -

5 \gero from | ST to J-2, Joint Staff, GTMO Detainee -Oﬁsl'movambn' 15, 2002).
M Committes staff interview of MG Geoffrey Miller (December 6, 2007. :

3 Emeil from LTC Diane Beaver wil T (Vovember 14, 2002) (emphasis added),

% il from COL Britt Mallow 10 MG Geotliey Miller (November 14, 2002).

%7 FBI memo to Major General Miller, PTC 21 November 2002 (undated).

5% committes staff interview of FBI Spacial agent (November 8, 2007).

3\ vemal FBI Email, Intarview Plang (November 21, 2002).

0 Thid, \
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IOR November 21, 2002, MG Miller, LTC Phifer, and representatives from the FBI,
CITF, SOUTHCOM, and the DoD General Counsel's office all participated in « video
teleconference (VTC) to discuss the Khatani interrogation.™ '

LTC Phifer told the Committee that he and MG Miller briefed the group on the
Khatani plan and that during the VTC, DoD Associate Deputy General Counsel for International
Affairs Eliana Davidson stated that the Department was comfortable with what JTF-GTMO had
planned.** MG Miller tofd the Committe that he did not recali the VTC.%* Ms. Davidson said
that she recalled participating in VTCs where the Khatani interrogation was discussed, but she
did not recall if she had a copy of the interrogation plan itself and did not recall saying that the
D of Defense was comfortable with what JTF-GTMO proposed for the inferrogation.**

the psychiatrist with the GTMO Behavioral Science Consultation Team, said that

in the context of the Khatani interrogation, “we were routinely told that the interrogation strategy
was approved up to [the Secretary of Defense] level, %

(U) Subsequent to the VTC, the FBI sent 8 memo to MG Miller alerting him to FBI
“misgivings about the overall coercive nature and possible illegality” of the Khatani
interrogation plan and informing him that the FBI had presented JTF-GTMO stafT with “ani
alternative interrogation approach based on long-term rapport building. ™ A draft of that
alternative approach, which was the product of both the FBI and CITF, stated that Khatani's

negative interactions with interrogators “only reinforces Al-Qaeda sterectypes about evil .
Americans and validates their expectation of harsh treatment and potential torture,™”

(U) On Novetnber 22, 2002, Naval Criminal Investigative Service (NCIS) Chief
Peychologist Michael Gelles drafted & formal review of a JTF-GTMO draft plan.*® Dr. Gelles
concluded that the interrogation plan “lack{ed] substantive and thoughtful consideration.”**
Among other concerns, Dr, Gelles stated:

U Notes of FBI Special Agent, Timeling Reganding Interrogation Plans for Detaines #063, enizy st “11/21/2002.7

1 ommittee staff interview of LTC Jerry Phifer (fune 27, 2007). Notes taken by an FBI Special Agent who
participated in the VTC indicate that, in briefing the Defanse HUMINT Service (DHS) plan, LTC Phifer
“portray[cd] the DHE Intetrogation Plan to SOUTHCOM and the General Counset ot the Pentagon es 8 unified
FBUDHS Interrogation Plan.” The FBI Special Agent's notes state that the LTC Phifer charactarization was “in
direct contradiction” 1o what the Special Agent had told Phifer the previous day. Sec notes of FBI Special Agent,
Timeline Regarding Interrogation Plans for Détatnes #063, entry st “11/21/2002."

¥ Committes staff intarview of MG Geoffray Miller (December 6, 2007).

4 Committes staff interview of Elians Davidson (February 21, 2008).

% Written statamont or—(m 21,2007 at 8.

%6 FBI memo to Major General Miller, PTC 21 November 2002 (undated).
* FBI and CITF Draft Intarrogstion Plan (November 22, 2002).

% ) femo from Michael G. Gelles, Psy.D. to Mark Fallon, Review of JTF.GIMO Interrogation Flan Detaines 063,
(November 22, 2002) (hersinafter “Raview of JTF-GTMO Interrogation Plan Detainee 063 (November 22, 2002)™).

*® Review of JTF-GTMO Interrogation Plan Detaines 063 (November 22, 2002). -




Sh'attgies articulated in the later phases reflect techniques used to train US forces
in resisting interrogation by foreign enemies... [These techniques] would prove
not only 1o be ineffective but also border on techmquas and strategies deemed
unacceptable by law enforcement prufesaionals

(U) Dr. Gelles noted that “the choice to use force with this adversary in an interrogation
may only reinforce his resistance” and stated that if the plan were implemented he would “have
trouble not finding myself from a profess:onal perspective, being forced info an advmu?(
position through cross examination in a military tribunal as an expert in interrogation.”

(U) Notwithstanding the CITF and FBI concerns, MG Miller authorized interrogators to
proceed with the Khatani interrogation beginning November 23, 2002,

4. “Final” Khatani Interrogation Plan (U)

MG Miller identified a version of the Khatani plan that had been written on
November 22, 2002 as the “final” plan that he authorized to be implemented on November 23,
2002.°% While similar to the plan circulated on November 12, 2002, the November 22, 2002
plan comained notable differences from the earlier version that contemporaneous documents
indicated had also been approved.

- - Although there is evidence that both stress positions and dogs were
used in the Khatani interrogation, the November 22, 2002 plan does not mention cither of these
two techniques.*® MG Miller said the atress pozitions and use of doge were removed from the

plan at his direction. %

With respect to dogs, MG Miller said that neither LTC Phifer, nor LTC
Beaver objected to the use of dogs and that his ICE Chief, Mr, Becker, actually favored the use
of dogs in interrogations.® MG Miller said, however, that he only approved the use of dogs for
security around the perimeter of Camp X-Ray, where the interrogation was to take place, and
that he made that view absolutely clear to Mr. Becker. CAPT Jane Dalton, the Legal Counsel to
the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff said, however, that she met with MG Miller in early
November and discussed the use of dogs for interrogation purposes.”™ She said that the “theory
was that certein individuals are afraid of dogs™ and that, while MG Miller talked about dogs

0 Thid,
0 Thid
2 Ingr Report at 9.

2 Interrogation Plan for ISN- [Khateni] (November 22, 200Z) (hmmnftnr *Khatani mtmnguuun
plan (November 22, 2002).7).

* Committee staff interview of MG Geoffrey Miller (Dmcmbnr &, 2007),
3 Thid. '
& Comumittee staff interview of RADM Jane Dalton (April 10, 2008) at §4.



being outside the interrogation room, they discussed the purpose of the dogs’ presence during
interrogations was that it “exploits [the detainee’s] fear.” ? ‘

. m Mr. Becker told the Committee that MG Miller told him to remove dogs
from the plan.™ Nevertheless, 2 document describing interrogation techniques vsed in the
Khatani interrogation and a witness account (both discussed below) suggest that dogs were used
during the interrogation to shock and agitate Khatani,

w‘& With respect to stress positions, Mr. Becker told the Committee that,

notwi ing the fact that they were included in the easlier plan, there was never an intent to
use stress positions with Khatani,®'’ A document that appears 10 have been produced during the
Khatani interrogation, however, stated that stress positions would “be employed,”™"! In addition,
2 2005 memo from the JTTF-GTMO Chief of Staff referencing the 2002 interrogation stated that
Khatani had “slight abrasions caused by stress positions and shackle restraints. ™"

. The November 22, 2002 plan identified by MG Miller as the final plan
described five phases to the interrogation.”® Phase I, which was added afier November 12,
called for the interrogators to “Induce and exploit Stockholm Syndrome” by establishing “an
isolated, austere environment where the detainee becomes completely dependent on the
interrogators and the irterrogator presents himself as a *caretaker’ of the detainee.”™ Dr. Gelles
‘said that the ides of inducing the Stockholm syndrome implied that “the subject feels that he is to
be killed and the information provided may in fact be distorted. ™™ ‘

Phase II of the November 22, 2002 plan (which is largely the same as Phase
[ of the earlier plan) stated that prior to the start of the first Phase II interrogation session,
Khatani’s head and beard would be shaved for “safety, hygiene and psychological purposes. 16
In addition, the plan stated that MG Miller had approved the use of hospital ganze to restrain the
detainee’s mouth to prevent him from becoming argumentative and verbally abusive.

** Comuiitice staff interview of David Becker (September 17, 2007).

had Methods Employed X-Ray Interrogation ISN 63(5) (Jarnsery 17, 2003). Army 1G, Interview of
(April 28, 2006). | .

" Contmittce staff interview of David Becker (Septomber 17, 2007).

3 Memo, 063 Plan of Attack: Phase I Bravo (mdated).

¥ Memo from COL John i Lo Staff, USSOUTHCOM, Executive Summary on Information
Concerning Detaines ISN- (Mareh 14, 2008). |

" Khatani interrogation plan (November 22, 2002),

M Khatani interroggtion plan (November 22, 2002). The Stockholm Syndrome refers to 8 peychological avent
where hostages begin o identify with and grow sympathetic to their captors. The syndrome draws its name from a
bank robbery and hostage situation in Stockholm, Sweden in 1973,

“! Review of JTF-GTMO Interrogation Plan Detainee 063 (November 22, 2002).
¢ Khatani interrogation plan (November 22, 2002).



Phase 111 of the November 22, 2002 plan was largely the same as Phase I of
the earher plan and proposed hnvmg a native linguist translator play the role of a detainee to
elicit information from Khatani.®

Phase IV of the November 22, 2002 plan —~ which described ﬂlﬁ use of
interrogation techniques based on thosé used in SERE school to increase U.S. personnel’s
resistance to illegal enemy interrogations — was virtually identical to the earlier plan and stated:

The fourth phase of the plan to exploit 063 [Khatani] requires [Office of the
Secretary of Defense] approval for the SERE interrogation technique training and
approval of the level three counter unm'ogahon resistance iraining submitted by
JTF-GTMO. Once the approvals are in placs, those interrogation techniques will
be implemented to encourage 063 to cooperate. The intent of raising the stakes to
this level is to convince 063 that it is futile to resist. Success of Fhase Il is when
his sense of futility is raised to a high enough level that source gives in and
provides the necessary information. Phase Il ends w:th success or a standstill,

after the exhaustion of all tools JTF GTMO has to offer.!

I Despite having approved the plan, MG Miller testified to the Army IG that he know
“little about SERE” and “wasn’t comfortable™ with SERE techniques.®"® However, MG Miller
acknowledged to the Committee that these techniques were included in the approved plan and
that, if the first three phases of the Khatam plan were unsuccessful, that he was willing to
consider the use of SERE teohmques

.'I‘he plan’s final phase, Phase V, maintained the same title “Coalition Exploitation™ as
Phase IV of the earlier plan but dxd not explicitly state an intention to render Khatani to a third
country, as did the carlier plan.®' Instead, under “Coslition Exploitation” the November 22,
2002 plan stated that:

The fifth phase of the plan to exploit 063 will be determined at the national,
interagency level where the future dispesition of 063 will be determined, ™

%7 Interrogation Pten for ISN: [N [Khstari] (November 15, 2002) (hereinafter “Khati interrogation
plan (Noverber 15, 2002)"); Khatani interrogation plan (November 22, 2002).

% hatani interrogation plan (November 22, 2002),

€ Army 18, Interview of MG Geoffrey Miller (March 26, 2006).

0 Committes staff interview of MG Geoffrey Miller (Decaraber 6, 2007).
! ¥hmani interrogation plan (November 22, 2002),

% Committes staff interview of MG Geoffrey Milter (Decetber 6, 2007).



q‘“ Nevertheless, the idea of transferring Khatani to a third

country was digcussed,

3 FBI and CITF Continue to Objéct to Khatani Interrogation Plan (U)

(U) On November 22, 2002 the FBI sent MQ Miller a memo that outlined FBI's
continuing concerns about JTF-GTMO interrogation techniques. The FBI also requested a
meeting with the Commander,® The memo stated:

Many of [JTF-GTMO’s] methods are considered coercive by Federal Law
Enforcement and UCMJ standards. Not only this,  but reports from those
knowledgeable about the use of these coercive techniques are highly skeptical as
to their effectiveness and reliability. ™’

(U) The memo stated further that the “FBCITF strongly beticves that the contiaued use
of diametrically opposed interrogation stratogies in GTMO will only weaken our efforts to obtain

valiable information "¢

(U) In late November, FBI agents at GTMO asked that their concerns about JTF-GTMO
interrogation techniques be relayed to Marion “Spike” Bowman, & senior attomey in the FBI's
Office of General Counsel.®®! Mr, Bowman said that “[a]s soon as ] heard from the [the FBI
agents] I talked with (now retired) Executive Asgistant Director Pat D’ Amuro who immediately
said we (the FBI) would not be a party to actions of any kind that were contrary to FBI policy
and that individuals should distance themselves from any such actions.”* Mr, Bowman also
recommended to FBI General Counsal Kenneth Wainstein that FBI relay the concerns to the
DoD General Counsel’s office. Mr. Bowman subsequently called the acting Dol) Deputy
General Counsel for Intelligence and believes he also spoke with the DoD Principal Deputy
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8 S Sectian VB §, infra.

8 Khatani interrogation plan (November 22, 2002).

87 hid.; Committes ataff interview of MG Geoffrey Miller (December 6, 2007). |

4 FRI Memorandum to ITF-170 Commendsr MG Geoffrey Miller (November 22, 2002). Despite the heading on
the memorandum, JTF-GTMO had replaced JTF-170 by the time this memo wes written. :
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General Counsel. DoD General Counsel Jim Has‘nes said that he did not recall being awere that
the FBI had contacted his office with concerns.®

(U) On December 2, 2002, an FBI Special Agent, who was also an attorney, sent his own
lepal analysis of the October 11, 2002 GTMO request to another Special Agent for forwarding to
Mr. Bowman® The FBI Special Agent referred to several techniques - such as all the Category
III techniques and several Category II techniques, including stress positions, hooding, removal of
clothing, 20 hour interrogations, and use of individual phobias (such as fear of dogs) to induce
siress — a8 “coercive interrogation techniques which are not permitted by the U.S.
Constitition.”™* The Special Agent's analysis also identified several techniques — including all
Category III techniques and two Category II techniques, i.e. hooding and use of phobias — as
“examples of coercive interrogation techniques which may violate 18 U.S.C. § 2340, (Torture
Statute)” and warned that “it is possible that those who employ these techniques may be indicted,
prosemxgﬁd, and possibly convicted if the trier of fact determines that the user had the requisite
intent.™ - :

(U) The following day, Mr. Bowman sent an email to another FBI Special Agent, stating
“[i]t is irrelevant whether these detainees are considered prisonera of war, they are still entitled to
minimal conditions of treatment — many of the techniques addressed appear to move well beyond
the minimal requirements . . . I concur that we can't control what the military is doing, but we
need to stand well clear of it and get as much information as possible to D' Amuro, Gebhart, and
Mueller as soon as possible.” Director MueHer said that he was not aware of the FBI's
concerns with DoD interrogation techniques at GTMO until May 2004.9

3 Committes staff interview of William J. Heynes I {April 25, 2008) at 236.
©4 Emgil from FBI Spacial Agent (December 2, 20072).
‘;;OFZ?I Memo, Legal Issues Re Intervogation Techmigues, attached 1o Email from FBI Special Agent (December 2,

€ Ihid.
©7 Bmail from Marion Bowman (December 3, 2002),

©¥ Current and Projected National Security Threats to the United States, Senate Select Committes on Intelligence,
109* Cong. (February 16, 2005).
 Committee staff interview of FHI Specinl Agent (Novernber 8, 2007).

0 Bmai] from FBI Special Agent (May 10, 2004).



The DoD Associate Deputy General Counse] for

International Affairs, Eliana Davidson, said that the FBI’s Unit Chief believed that efforts at
GTMO were not bem ductive and that he advocated for Khatani’s transfer during the

DoD General Counsel Jim Haynes said he did not
remember dxscussmg the possible rendition of Khatani, but that “it may have been
considered, ™

(U) CITF Deputy Commander Mark Fallon said that FBI proposed to CITF the idea of
rendering Khatani to a third conntry but that CITF “considered it possibly unlawful” and
opposed the proposal.®® He said CITF staff made Mr. Cobb aware of their concerns and that
Mr. Cobb supported the CITF position.

! Committee staff interview of FEI Special Agent (Novamber §, 2007).

“ Committec staff interview of Eliana Davidsan (May 23, 2008).

5° Committee staff interview of FEI Unit Chief (May 17, 2008)
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(U) The same day the VTC took place, FBI's on-site supervisor and two Special Agents
met with MG Miller whete they again raised their concerns about JTF-GTMO interrogation
techniques. & One FBI Special Agent told the Committee that MG Miller thanked the FBI
personnel for their views, but told them that JTF-GTMO staff knew what they were doing.*”

(U) On December 9, 2002, another FBI Special Agent who attended the mecting sent an
email stating, “when I return to D'C'z’ 1 will bring a copy of the military’s interview plan [for
Khatani]... You won't believe it"®? Several months later he characterized the December 5,
2002 meeting with MG Miller: | '

Although [MG] Miller acknowledged positive aspects of [the FBI's approach to
interrogations] it was apparent that he favored [JTF-GTMO’s} interrogation
methods, despite FBI assertions that such methods conld easily result in the
elicitation of unreliable and legally inadmissible information. 65

I 117-G MO ICE Chief David Becker told the Committee that MG Miller asked him
at one point why the JTF was not using the FBI's approach, to which Mr. Becker replied that the
JTF had already tried the FBI approach, that it did not work, and that he wanted to be more
aggrcssive.m '

6 Khatani Interrogation Begins, CITF Directed To *Stand Clear” (U)

(U) On November 23, 2002, JTF-GTMO personnel took Khatani to Camp X-Rayto
begin Phase I of the intetrogation,®* Two days later, CITF attorney sent the
GTMO Staff Judge Advocate, LTC Diane Beaver, an email indicating that *CITF is not on board
with aggressive techniques including 20 hour [plus] interrogations. Therefore, according to our
policy, we will *stand clear’ and not offer participation, advisements, support of
racommendations as 1o its implementation.”™* CITF later drafted formal guidance for its agents
stating that “Detainees will be treated humanely. Physical torture, corporal punishment and
mental torture are not acceptable interrogation tactics and are ot allowed under any
circumstances... CTTF personnel will not participate in any interrogation that employs tactics
inconsistent with or in divect violation of this policy.™*"' .

0 o ormminss staff interview of FBI Special Agents (November 8, 2007).

&1 ~ommities staff interview of FBI Special Agent (November 8, 2007).

%% Email from FBI Special Agent (Decsmber 9, 2002).

9 Blectranic Communication from FB1 Behavioral Analysis Unit (RAU) (May 30, 2003).
&% ommittes staff imerview of David Becker (Scptember 17, 2007)

5 Army Regulstion 15-6; Final Report: Investigation Into FBI Allegations of Detainee Abusa At Guantanamo Bay,
gul:;n Wwﬁty prepared by Lt Gen. Randsl] Schrmidt and Brig. Gen. John Furlow (hereinafier “Schmidt-

%6 5onait o NNI] o 1.C Diane Beaver (November 25, 2002).

857 D CITF Memo for All Persenne! Assigned to the Dab Criminal Investigation Task Force, ALCITF
Memorandum 004-02, Intervogation Procedyras (Devember 16, 2002).
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